MAY 1 2 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By....

No. 340511

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

In the Matter of the Estate of:

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone

ESTATE OF KATHRYN JOYCE RATHBONE, TODD RATHBONE, Personal Representative,

Appellants,

VS.

GLEN L. RATHBONE

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Jerry J. Moberg WSBA No. 5282
Dalton Lee Pence, WSBA No. 30339
Jerry Moberg & Associates
Attorney for Appellants
124 3rd Ave SW
P.O. Box 130
Ephrata, WA 98823
(509) 754 2356

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves the question of what jurisdiction the lower court has to intervene and interpret a Will in non-intervention probate proceedings in the Estate of Kathryn Joyce Rathbone in direct contravention of the wishes of the Decedent.

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone's died testate and left her estate to her three surviving sons Todd Rathbone, Glen Rathbone, and Douglas Rathbone¹, and two grandchildren Lisa Holloway and Sheila Holloway. One of her major concerns was to not burden her Estate with litigation. In that regard she specifically set forth in her Will the following provision:

"5.4 NO CONTEST PROVISION. My Personal Representative and Trustee shall have the authority to construe this Will and trusts and to resolve all matters pertaining to disputed issues or controverted claims. I do not want to burden my Estate or any trust with the cost of a litigated proceeding to resolve questions of law or fact. (Emphasis added)

Todd is the designated representative, and was appointed to serve without court intervention. Despite the non-intervention status of the probate and the prohibition against contesting the Will, Respondent (and Petitioner below), Glen L. Rathbone ("GLEN") brought on a Petition under the Trusts and Estates Dispute Resolution Act ("TEDRA"), asking the trial court to construe the Will.

In direct contravention of his mother's directive in the Will, GLEN brought a TEDRA action seeking to have the trial court "construe" the GLEN did not claim he was bringing this action under the recognized exceptions to "non-intervention" powers, to wit allegations that the Personal Representative failed to faithfully carry out his duties (RCW 11.68.070), or that the Personal Representative committed waste, embezzlement or mismanagement (RCW 11.28.250).² Nor was he challenging the accounting or award of attorney fees approved by the Personal Representative (RCW 11.68.110). Instead he makes the novel argument that the TEDRA statute, it and of itself, confers jurisdiction upon the court to intervene and decide any disputed issues in a nonintervention probate. In fact, TEDRA is merely the procedural vehicle by which otherwise authorized probate actions may be resolved. TEDRA does not confer any new jurisdiction upon the court. The probate court accepted GLEN's novel argument and erroneously decided that TEDRA conferred additional jurisdiction upon the court in non-intervention cases and then construed the Will. The Personal Representative is asking this Honorable Court to correct the trial court's error and hold that TEDRA

¹ For clarity sake Appellant will refer to the sons by their first names.

does not confer any new jurisdiction upon the trial court in nonintervention proceedings.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Superior Court committed reversible error by exceeding its limited authority to assert jurisdiction in nonintervention probate proceedings.
 - 1. The Court erred when it asserted jurisdiction pursuant to RCW 11.68.070;
 - 2. The Court erred when it asserted jurisdiction pursuant to RCW 11.96, et seq.;
 - 3. The Court erred by allowing provisions set out in the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act (TEDRA) to supersede applicable provisions and procedures contained in Title 11 RCW.;
 - 4. The Court erred by failing to enforce statutory provisions set out in RCW 11.68.110.
 - 5. The Court erred when it construed the Will in this case.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

² In these limited instances the only authority of the court is to remove the Personal Representative. The court is not conferred with any authority to construe the Will.

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone executed her Will on December 27, 2010, and died on January 31, 2013. The Will designates her "Family" as three surviving children (Todd Rathbone, Glen Rathbone, and Douglas Rathbone), and two grandchildren (Lisa Holloway and Sheila Holloway). Todd Rathbone is the personal representative of the Decedent's estate, and was appointed to serve without court intervention. CP 24 (¶2).

The four corners of the Will, when read as a whole, illustrate the testator's turbulent relationship with GLEN and her intent to make special provisions that conditioned or limited GLEN's rights to inheritance. CP 24 (¶3). She required that GLEN sell his interest in the family business to his two brothers or risk being disinherited. CP 24 (¶4 & ¶6). She made it clear that GLEN was purposely eliminated from the estate administration process. CP 24 (¶7). Article IV of the Will addresses disposition of property, both real and personal. Section 4.1.1 provides that the decedent's personal effects (less motor vehicles and boats) be divided between her sons, Todd, Doug and Glen, "in as nearly equal shares as may be practicable. . . ." However, GLEN's status as a beneficiary is conditional and addressed separately: "Glen shall not receive a share of my person effects if he does not satisfy the condition in Section 1.3.2." CP 24 (¶8); CP 25(¶1).

She made very specific provisions about GLEN's right to inherent the real property that included two parcels collectively referred to as the "Road K Property. CP 25 (¶2). Section 4.1.3. of the Will provides, in pertinent part:

Provided that he satisfies the conditions set forth in Section 1.3.2., I leave the Road K Property to Glen, subject however to an option in favor of Todd to purchase the same from my estate for the sum of \$350,000 in cash, or for a portion of his share of the estate of equal value, paid at closing." * * * (Emphasis added). CP 25 (¶4).

Section 4.1.3. continues:

In the event Glen does not satisfy the conditions of Section 1.3.2. (for any reason, including his having predeceased me), then the Road K Property shall pass with the residue of my estate. At Todd's option, it shall be allocated to his share of the residue, provided at a deemed value of \$350,000 it exceeds his share of the residue, he shall pay the estate the amount of such excess in cash upon conveyance of the property to him." CP 25 (¶5).

Todd Rathbone exercised the purchase option. CP 25 (¶6). GLEN responded by initiating a (TEDRA) Petition for "Order Construing Will" pursuant to "RCW 11.96A et seq., RCW 11.12.230, this Petition, and the files and records herein." CP 3 (¶1). In his TEDRA action, GLEN asks the court to construe the non-intervention Will despite the Testator's clear intent to leave the construction of the Will up to the Personal Representative. GLEN's TEDRA petition (including appended exhibits) does not reference or rely upon any provisions set out in chapters

11.68.110, 11.68.070 or 11.28.250 RCW that specially confer limited jurisdiction to the lower court in a non-intervention probate. CP 3-21.

Ignoring the jurisdictional restrictions, GLEN's TEDRA petition simply addresses his view of the proper construction of the Will. CP 5 (¶5). He continues on with reasons why the court should engage in Will construction and accept his version of "specific circumstances" which he alleges would support of his viewpoint on the construction of the Will. CP 6 (¶3). However, GLEN fails to address the jurisdictional restrictions to his petition. Furthermore, GLEN did not petition for the removal of the Personal Representative or ask that his powers be restricted which is the only remedy that the jurisdictional statutes confer on the probate court in a non-intervention probate. CP 7 (¶3, 4, 5); CP 8(¶1).

The Estate timely objected and opposed GLEN's petition. CP 22 (¶1). The Estate challenged jurisdiction and underscored the court's limited authority to assert jurisdiction in nonintervention probate proceedings.³ CP 26 (¶3). In its objection and response in opposition, the

³ Without conceding jurisdiction, the Estate also asserted that GLEN's petition was, in fact, a petition to contest provisions of the will and his failure to comply with RCW 11.24.020 would require dismissal of the petition. CP 29 (¶1-2). The Estate's objection and opposition also set out issues involving potential questions of fact that would have to be resolved by a hearing and not at oral argument of the

Estate, *inter alia*, countered that TEDRA provisions clearly do convey any specific substantive jurisdiction on the probate court that was not otherwise created by probate statutes, but TEDRA merely supplement otherwise applicable provisions and procedures under Title 11 RCWA and provided the procedural process to resolve those claims. CP 28 (¶1).

THE HEARING

At the time of hearing, GLEN made clear he was seeking relief exclusively under the "TEDRA statute." The probate judge immediately questioned the nature of the proceeding and raised the jurisdictional issue. VRP, Page 5, Lines 4-19. The Court interrupted GLEN's invitation to engage in Will construction by moving "straight to jurisdiction". VRP, Page 6, Lines 23-24. The Court asked if this was a TEDRA action "challenging fees and for requesting an accounting" according to provisions set out in RCW 11.68.110, an area where the legislature has conferred limited jurisdiction on the probate court in a non-intervention probate. VRP, Page 7, Lines 14-17. GLEN represented that an accounting had been requested (but was not part of this TEDRA proceedings). He argued that the jurisdictional statutory provisions under

motion to dismiss the TEDRA action. CP 29 (\P 3-4); CP 30 (\P 1-5); CP 31 (\P 1-2); CP 35 (\P 3-6; CP 36 (\P 1).

RCW 11.68.110 amount to nothing more than a "technicality". VRP, Page 7, Lines 23-24. Instead, ignoring TEDRA's supplemental status, GLEN argued that the Court had jurisdiction conferred to it by the TEDRA statute to construe a Will in a non-intervention probate. VRP, Page 8, Lines 3-4.

The Court responded by acknowledging that the subject matter of GLEN's petition did not involve any request for an accounting nor did it concern a fee challenge. VRP, Page 8, Lines 5-8. The Court admitted confusion by stating that it "was trying to figure out" if RCW 11.68.110 even applied. VRP, Page 8, Lines 12-13. The Court concluded properly that "[RCW 11.68.110] doesn't appear to [apply], based on the issue that's being raised, which is the interpretation of section 4.1.3." VRP, Page 8, Lines 13-15.

GLEN reiterated the basis for his requested relief: "We're looking for a construction of the Will. * * * Petition to construe the Will, here's what the Will means." VRP, Page 9, Lines 13-17. He did not point the probate court to any legal authority that would confer jurisdiction on the court to construe a Will in a non-intervention probate.

Surprisingly, despite the fact that GLEN's TEDRA petition was not seeking to remove the Personal Representative pursuant to RCW 11.68.070, and without (1) any notice or a hearing pursuant to RCW

11.68.070 or (2) any evidence of a breach of a fiduciary duty of the part the Personal Representative, the probate court transformed the TEDRA petition into a proceedings to determine whether a personal representative is recreant or subject to removal under RCW 11.68.070. The probate court noted GLEN's arguments:

[B]asically say Todd's actions constitute self-dealing and a breach of his fiduciary duties as the estate's personal representative. That sounds like it fits within 11.68.070. Because under that statute – the claim under that statute usually is the PR has failed to, quote, execute his or her trust faithfully. And it sounds like that's what you're arguing at this point.

VRP, Page 10, Lines 3-5. GLEN agreed with the probate court's erroneous conclusion despite the fact that the TEDRA petition never alleged that is was brought under RCW 11.68.070 and sought no relief under that statute. VRP, Page 10, Line 11-16.

The probate court, although admittedly confused, seem to recognize the distinction between the statutes that conferred jurisdiction on the court in a non-intervention probate and the supplemental status of TEDRA as merely the procedural process to hear those issues when it stated:

"So I'm trying to figure out if there's this other applicable provision, which is why I'm asking you, does it fit under 11.68.110 [related to accounting for fees paid in the probate] or 11.68.070 [procedure to remove recreant personal representative]? Because if it fits under one of those two, then

those are the otherwise applicable provisions first, and then we get to TEDRA afterwards." VRP, Page 11, Lines 2-7.

Nevertheless, despite the fact that this TEDRA petition was not seeking any accounting, GLEN had not met the procedural requirements set out in RCW 11.68.110(2), and GLEN's TEDRA petition did not appear "to really argue that it's part of that statute" [RCW 11.68.110], the probate court partly based its jurisdiction to "construe the Will" on RCW 11.68.110. VRP, Page 12, Lines 20-25; VRP, Page 13, Lines 1-5.

At the time of hearing, the Estate raised lack of jurisdiction at its very first opportunity. VRP 27, Lines 6. The Estate stressed that a challenge of accounting was not before the Court, and that such a challenge does not occur within a TEDRA action. VRP 29, Lines 12-17. Further, the Estate reminded the Court that GLEN's TEDRA action was for "the specific purpose of asking this court to interpret the Will." VRP 29, Lines 18-19. The Estate correctly argued that the court's jurisdiction to intervene in a non-intervention probate under RCW 11.68.070 and RCW 11.28.250 exists only if there's an action to remove the personal representative under 11.68.070. GLEN had not filed an action seeking to remove the personal representative. VRP 29, Lines 24-25; VRP 30, Lines 1-2. VRP 30, Lines 3-10. Furthermore, GLEN had not produced any

evidence of mismanagement or clear fraud which is required to invoke jurisdiction under these statutes. VRP 32, Lines 12-14.

The court admitted that GLEN's petition "doesn't quite in and of itself say that it's being brought under 11.68.070". However, the probate court shoehorned this TEDRA petition into RCW 11.68.070 by concluding that "the claim, in my opinion, appears to be indicating that it is in fact brought under that section or that statute." VRP 43, Lines 14-17. The court admitted that "under 11.68.070, that has to make – be a claim of embezzlement or fraud or mismanagement" but reasoned that under the broader language of the statute " it talks about has wrongfully neglected the estate or has neglected to perform any acts as such personal representative – of such personal representative." VRP 43, Lines 22-25; VRP 44, Lines 1-3. The court went on to state, "[S]o I do believe the court does have jurisdiction as provided under 11.68.070." VRP 44, Lines 12-13.

In an effort to justify is jurisdiction in this case, the probate court compounded its error that it had jurisdiction under RCW 11.68.110 and RCW 11.68.070 by adopting GLEN's argument that "Regardless of the other statutes that were implicated in this, TEDRA grants the court very broad and wide latitude. And by – and jurisdiction exists under TEDRA." VRP Page 15, Lines 5-8. The court reasoned, "[A]nd in the alternative,

even if this was not a case of having neglected to perform any acts under the Will or as personal representative, **I do find that TEDRA would confer jurisdiction in the alternative if 11.68.070 did not apply**" VRP 44, Lines 13-18. (Emphasis added)

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court is asked to review the probate court's ruling as a matter of law and on jurisdictional grounds. Where the issue is legal, not factual, the standard of review is the error of law standard and is reviewed *de novo*. *Grier v. Washington State Employment Sec. Dep't*, 43 Wn. App. 92, 95, 715 P.2d 534 (1986). With respect to subject matter jurisdiction, the proper standard of review is de novo. "Whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed de novo." *Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 314, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003) (citing *Crosby v. Spokane County*, 137 Wn.2d 296, 301, 971 P.2d 32 (1999)). See also, *ZDI Gaming Inc. v. State ex rel. Washington State Gambling Comm'n*, 173 Wn.2d 608, 624, 268 P.3d 929, (2012), *as corrected* (Mar. 20, 2012); *Young v. Clark*, 149 Wn.2d 130, 132, 65 P.3d 1192 (2003).

B. NONINTERVENTION STATUTES LIMIT THE SUPERIOR COURT'S ABILITY TO ASSERT JURISDICTION.

The entire purpose of the nonintervention statutes is to ensure the wishes of the Decedent in this case; to avoid costly and often painful litigation and prevent court intervention in the probate of an estate. The legislature carried out this laudable purpose by specifically restricting the "jurisdiction" of the Superior Court in nonintervention probates. RCW 11.68, et seq., governs "Settlement of Estates without Administration." It has long been the law in Washington that "Superior court jurisdiction over nonintervention probate is statutorily limited." See *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 9, 193 P.3d. 147 (2004). See also, *In re Estate of Bobbitt*, 60 Wn.App. 630, 632, 806 P.2d 254 (1991)("Plainly, the Superior Court's jurisdiction over nonintervention probate proceedings depends wholly on the legislative scheme.")

"[O]nce the decedent dies, the personal representative applies for an order of solvency, and the court has jurisdiction to grant or deny the order. However, once an order of solvency is entered the court loses jurisdiction. The court may regain jurisdiction only if the executor or another person with statutorily conferred authority invokes jurisdiction." *In re the Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d at 9 (citing *In re Coates' Estate*, 55 Wn.2d 250, 347 P.2d 875 (1959)(Emphasis added)

In re Peabody's Estate, 169 Wash. 65, 13 P.2d 431 (1932) explained the process with charming simplicity:

To make this clear, let us illustrate: (a) Mr. Peabody in his lifetime made a nonintervention will, but no court then had jurisdiction of his estate. (b) Mr. Peabody died. Still no court had jurisdiction of his estate until, after his death, by proper petition setting up the jurisdictional facts, filed in the superior court of the proper county, that court, by reason of that application to it, obtained jurisdiction of the estate. (c) When the order of solvency was properly entered, the further administration of the estate was by the statute relegated exclusively to the executors, and the probate court, which had before had jurisdiction, then lost its jurisdiction of the estate. (d) Thereafter, in order for the court to regain jurisdiction of the estate, its jurisdiction must be again invoked by a proper application made by someone authorized by the statute so to do...(Emphasis added)

Quoted In re the Estate of Bobbitt, 60 Wn.App at 632

Once the court loses jurisdiction, its authority is limited to removal and appointment of a successor or restriction or the executor's nonintervention powers and prospective supervision of the estate's administration in limited circumstances. *Matter of Estate of Hookom*, 52. Wn.App. 800, 805, 764 P.2d 1001 (1988) (quoting *In re Estate of Aaberg*, 25 Wn.App. 336, 344, 607 P.2d 1227 (1980)). Indeed, GLEN does not argue with this longstanding jurisdictional rule in nonintervention probates. He simply argues that somehow TEDRA magically expands jurisdiction in nonintervention probates. It does not.

Here, GLEN did not properly invoke the jurisdiction of the Superior Court. His TEDRA petition did not even involve RCW 11.68.070, RCW 11.28.250 or RCW 11.68.110. Likewise, GLEN did not

present any evidence in support of any statutory grounds that would confer jurisdiction to the court in this nonintervention probate. The trial court breached the legislative scheme by intervening and assuming jurisdiction without any proper statutory authority to do so.

C. THE SUPERIOR COURT IS WITHOUT ANY GROUNDS TO INTERVENE UNDER CHAPTERS 11.68.070 OR 11.28.250 RCW.

One of the traditional ways for the probate court to regain jurisdiction in a nonintervention probate is set forth in RCW 11.68.070; that is when a personal representative fails to execute his or her duties faithfully:

If any personal representative who has been granted nonintervention powers fails to execute his or her trust faithfully or is subject to removal for any reason specified in RCW 11.28.250 as now or hereafter amended, upon petition of any * * * devisee, legatee, or of any person on behalf of any incompetent heir, devisee, or legatee, such petition being supported by affidavit which makes a prima facie showing of cause for removal or restriction of powers, the court shall cite such personal representative to appear before it, and if, upon hearing of the petition it appears that said personal representative has not faithfully discharged said trust or is subject to removal for any reason specified in RCW 11.28.250 as now or hereafter amended, then, in the discretion of the court the powers of the personal representative may be restricted or the personal representative may be removed and a successor appointed.

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