ì

.

RE - Pille

COLOGIOF APPEALS DICUNDS ID STATE DE WASHINGTON RV

No. 340511

#### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Matter of the Estate of:

Kathryn Joyce Rathbone

ESTATE OF KATHRYN JOYCE RATHBONE, TODD RATHBONE, Personal Representative,

Appellants,

vs.

GLEN L. RATHBONE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DWAYNE C. FOWLES WSBA# 27119 Attorneys for Respondent

Larson Fowles, PLLC 821 E. Broadway Ave. Ste. 8 Moses Lake, WA 98837-2458 (509) 765-6700

##

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

TEDRA was inapplicable to the probate proceedings in *In re* 

Estate of Jones. However, in that case, our Supreme Court said

this about TEDRA and, specifically, RCW 11.96A.080:

... Further it should be noted that statutes subsequently enacted, but inapplicable to this case based on the date of decedent's death, afford beneficiaries the same protection as former RCW 11.96.070 and *allow a beneficiary to petition the court for an accounting under a nonintervention will*. See RCW 11.68.065, *11.96A.080*, .030; Laws of 1997, ch. 252, §§ 64, 89; Laws of 1998, ch. 292, § 205; Laws of 1999, ch. 42, §§ 104, 301, 703.

In re Estate of Jones at 17 n. 11 (emphasis added). This statement

by the Supreme Court simply confirms that TEDRA means what it

says: any party may have a judicial proceeding for the declaration

of rights or legal relations with respect to any matter, as defined by

RCW 11.96A.030. See RCW 11.96A.080.

As an authorized party, Glen successfully and properly

invoked the jurisdiction of the court with regard to the estate

pursuant to TEDRA, and he has presented issues that fall squarely

within the court's jurisdiction and power to adjudicate.

C. Glen's Petition for a Formal Accounting Pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 was Sufficient to Invoke the Jurisdiction of the Court.

An additional, and independent basis for invoking the court's

jurisdiction in a nonintervention probate proceeding is set forth in

RCW 11.68.110. This statute relevantly provides:

Subject to the requirement of notice as provided in this section, unless an heir ... of a decedent petitions the court either for an order requiring the personal representative to obtain court approval of the amount of fees paid ..., or for an order requiring an accounting, or both, within thirty days from the date of filing a declaration of completion of probate, the personal representative will be automatically discharged without further order of the court and the representative's powers will cease thirty days after the filing of the declaration of completion of probate, and the declaration of completion of probate shall, at that time, be the equivalent of the entry of a decree of distribution in accordance with chapter 11.76 RCW for all legal intents and purposes.

RCW 11.68.110(2). This statute clearly authorizes interested

parties to invoke the court's jurisdiction with regard to matters

relating to the administration of the estate. *See In re Estate of Bobbitt.* In addition, RCW 11.68.110 does not require a petitioner to demonstrate any special circumstances to invoke the court's jurisdiction. *Id.* at 634.

Throughout his opening brief, Todd blatantly misrepresents to this Court that Glen did not file a petition seeking a review of fees and for an accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110. Todd states that "[i]nstead of filing a petition for an accounting and fee challenge as set in RCW 11.68.110, GLEN filed a (TEDRA) Petition for Order Construing the Will" (Appellant's Brief, p. 27), and "GLEN has never filed a petition to approve fees or for an accounting" (Appellant's Brief, p. 28).

In fact, on January 20, 2015, within thirty days of Todd's filing the Declaration of Completion of Probate, Glen filed a Petition for Order (1) Approving the Reasonableness of Fees and (2) Requiring an Accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110. CP 115.

Todd also tells this Court that Glen "argued for the first time at the TEDRA hearing that the probate court obtained jurisdiction to hear his TEDRA petition by virtue of RCW 11.68.110" (Appellant's Brief, p. 26-27), and that "[a]ctually, this argument was first raised by the probate judge at the time of hearing on the TEDRA petition"

(Appellant's Brief, p. 27, n. 5). These statements are also blatantly false, as indicated by the record. Glen explicitly recited and relied upon RCW 11.68.110 in his briefing in support of his TEDRA petition, prior to the court hearing, as a basis for invoking the court's jurisdiction. CP 44.

Relying upon his own erroneous statements to this Court, Todd appears to concede that if Glen had filed a petition to approve fees and/or for a formal accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, then the jurisdiction of the trial court would have been properly invoked. Since Glen did, in fact, file a petition to approve fees and for a formal accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, the jurisdiction of the court was properly invoked in this case.

Todd relies upon *In re Estate of Harder*, 185 Wn. App. 378, 341 P.3d 342 (2015), to support his position (albeit based on Todd's misstatement of the record in this case). When viewed in light of the actual record in this case, *Harder* supports Glen's position that the jurisdiction of the trial court was properly invoked with regard to his TEDRA petition.

*Harder* illustrates the interplay between TEDRA and the other provisions of the probate statute, and it shows that TEDRA provides an additional, independent basis for a beneficiary to

invoke the court's jurisdiction in a probate matter. *Harder* involved a nonintervention probate in which the personal representative had filed a declaration of completion pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 to initiate the closing of the probate proceedings. One of the heirs filed a notice of mediation in the matter within thirty days of the filing of the declaration of completion, requesting that the personal representative's fees be resolved by mediation under TEDRA (RCW 11.96A.300). The notice of mediation did not petition or otherwise ask the court to take any action.

The court held that the heir's notice of mediation was ineffective because the heir failed to comply with the statutory requirements of TEDRA that governed the required notice, and because none of the heirs had filed a petition pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 within thirty days of the filing of the declaration of completion asking the court to approve the fees. This holding illustrates that TEDRA supplements, and does not replace the requirements of otherwise applicable statutes (in this case, the necessity of filing a petition pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 to prevent the closing of the probate), and that TEDRA provides additional statutory recourse for the heirs of an estate. Had the heirs in *Harder* filed a petition pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, then the estate would

not have closed, and they could have relied upon the provisions of

TEDRA to seek mediation of the matter (provided that they had

also properly complied with the notice requirements under the

applicable TEDRA statute).

The Harder court wrote:

The notice of mediation failed to petition the superior court to take any action and TEDRA does not affect the requirements in chapter 11.68 RCW. We note that reading both applicable provisions of chapters 11.68 and 11.96A RCW together, so that chapter 11.96A RCW supplements chapter 11.68 RCW, requires a party who gives notice of mediation in order to resolve a fee dispute under chapter 11.96A RCW to also file a petition to invoke the superior court's jurisdiction under chapter 11.68 RCW.

In re Estate of Harder at 385.

In the present case, Glen not only properly petitioned the superior court to take action pursuant to TEDRA, but he also filed a petition pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, thereby preventing the closure of the probate proceedings and invoking the court's jurisdiction regarding the estate. As illustrated by the holding in *Harder*, these two statutory provisions operate separately and independently of each other (although, as occurred in *Harder*, the failure to comply with one of the statutes might preclude the applicability of the

other), and Glen is authorized to invoke the court's jurisdiction pursuant to either or both of them.

Since Glen has filed a petition pursuant to RCW 11.68.110, the onus is now on Todd, as personal representative, to provide the requested accounting. In response to that accounting, Glen will be able to raise his objections regarding Todd's administration of the estate, including Todd's allocation of the proceeds from the sale of the Road K Property to the residue of the estate, which is the basis of Glen's TEDRA petition. The court's jurisdiction to consider Glen's objections at that time would clearly be within the scope of RCW 11.68.110.

To conclude that the court has no jurisdiction to consider the issue now in the context of Glen's TEDRA petition, but that the court will have the jurisdiction to consider the same issue after Todd has provided the requested accounting would be to improperly elevate form over substance, and it would directly undermine one of the objectives of TEDRA to facilitate "the prompt and early resolution of disputes in trust, estate, and nonprobate matters." RCW 11.96A.260.

Todd has already indicated that he has allocated, or intends to allocate, the proceeds from the sale of the Road K Property to

the estate's residue, instead of allocating it to Glen. CP 20. Therefore, the issue is already before the court, and the court has the jurisdiction to resolve the matter.

Glen's Petition for a formal accounting pursuant to RCW 11.68.110 was sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of the court with regard to the personal representative's administration of the estate, including the proper construction of the decedent's will.

# D. The Jurisdiction of the Court was Properly Invoked Pursuant to RCW 11.68.070.

Having properly invoked the court's jurisdiction pursuant to either RCW 11.96A (TEDRA) or RCW 11.68.110, or both, no additional basis for jurisdiction is necessary. However, Glen's TEDRA petition also invoked the court's jurisdiction pursuant to RCW 11.68.070, which provides yet another independent basis for authorizing a party other than the personal representative to invoke the jurisdiction of the court in a nonintervention probate.

In his opening brief, Todd focuses much attention on RCW 11.68.070, but Todd erroneously concludes that "[e]ven if the probate court had jurisdiction under this statute [RCW 11.68.070], its only available remedy would be to remove and replace the personal representative." Appellant's Brief, p. 22-23.

In fact, the plain language of the statute provides that RCW 11.68.070 applies to a personal representative who "fails to execute his or her trust faithfully *or* is subject to removal for any reason specified in RCW 11.28.250 ..." RCW 11.68.070 (emphasis added). In addition, the statue provides that the "personal representative may be restricted *or* the personal representative may be removed and a successor appointed." *Id.* (emphasis added).

As indicated by the plain language of the statute, RCW 11.68.070 is not restricted only to cases in which it can be established that the personal representative is subject to removal for the reasons specified in RCW 11.28.250. The statute also applies to cases where the personal representative has failed to execute his or her trust faithfully, and in such cases, the court has the authority and the flexibility to restrict the powers of the personal representative. In this case, such a restriction of the personal representative's powers would include requiring Todd to properly construe his mother's will and to administer the will accordingly.

A petition brought pursuant to RCW 11.68.070 must be "supported by affidavit which makes a prima facie showing of cause for removal or restriction of powers ..." RCW 11.68.070. As set forth herein above, Glen's TEDRA petition set forth numerous facts

demonstrating Todd's failure to faithfully execute his trust, thereby satisfying the requirement of making a prima facie showing of cause for the restriction of Todd's powers as personal representative. Todd, as the estate's personal representative, was intentionally misconstruing his mother's will in his own favor – to the detriment of another beneficiary to whom he owed a fiduciary duty – and then seeking to enforce his self-dealing and breach of fiduciary duty with intimidation and threats of disinheritance.

In fact, Todd was not at all subtle in the abuse of his authority as personal representative. In his Declaration of Completion of Probate, and in the Notice of Declaration of Completion of Probate, one of the purposes of which is to inform the estate's heirs of their statutory right to request court approval of administrative fees or an accounting, or both, Todd warned that he would consider any objection to the Declaration of Completion as a contest to the will, which would result in the disinheritance of the objector. CP 109; 112-13. As previously indicated, this threat was specifically targeted at Glen. Glen's TEDRA petition made it very clear that Todd had failed to execute his trust faithfully.

Glen's TEDRA petition also satisfied the requirement that it be supported by an affidavit because Glen verified the petition

pursuant to the requirements set forth in RCW 9A.72.085, giving it the same effect as an affidavit. CP 12.

RCW 11.68.070 also refers to a citation issued by the court, citing the personal representative to appear before it. RCW 11.68.070. In this case, a citation was not issued by the court, but Todd was served with a summons in connection with the TEDRA petition (CP 1), and a citation is equivalent to a civil summons. *Estate of Kordon*, 157 Wn.2d 206, 210, 137 P.3d 16 (2006). The summons was sufficient to confer personal jurisdiction over Todd pursuant to RCW 11.68.070. In addition, Glen's TEDRA petition did not seek Todd's removal as the estate's personal representative, so a citation issued by the court should not be required.

Glen's TEDRA petition satisfied the requirements of RCW 11.68.070 and properly invoked the court's jurisdiction with regard to Todd's administration of the estate.

#### E. Glen is Entitled to Attorneys' Fees on Appeal.

Glen respectfully requests an award of attorneys' fees in defending this appeal. RAP 18.1.

RCW 11.96A.150 grants broad discretion to courts to award attorneys' fees "in such manner as the court determines to be equitable" in "all proceedings governed by this title," *i.e.* under

Title 11 RCW. *Sloans v. Berry*, 189 Wn. App. 368, 379, 358 P.3d 426 (2015). RCW 11.96A.150 is set forth herein in its entirety for

the Court's reference:

(1) Either the superior court or any court on an appeal may, in its discretion, order costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be awarded to any party: (a) From any party to the proceedings; (b) from the assets of the estate or trust involved in the proceedings; or (c) from any nonprobate asset that is the subject of the proceedings. The court may order the costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be paid in such amount and in such manner as the court determines to be equitable. In exercising its discretion under this section, the court may consider any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate, which factors may but need not include whether the litigation benefits the estate or trust involved.

(2) This section applies to all proceedings governed by this title, including but not limited to proceedings involving trusts, decedent's estates and properties, and guardianship matters. This section shall not be construed as being limited by any other specific statutory provision providing for the payment of costs, including RCW 11.68.070 and 11.24.050, unless such statute specifically provides otherwise. This section shall apply to matters involving guardians and guardians ad litem and shall not be limited or controlled by the provisions of RCW 11.88.090(10).

In this case, Todd, as the estate's personal representative,

was misconstruing the decedent's will in a manner that increased

Todd's own share of the estate and reduced Glen's share by more

than \$230,000. Glen attempted to persuade Todd to carry out their

mother's intent as expressed in her will without resorting to

litigation. Todd responded by threatening Glen with complete disinheritance if Glen dared to question or challenge Todd's perceived authority to unilaterally construe the will in any manner that Todd chose.

Glen's only recourse was to file a petition asking the court to force Todd to properly carry out their mother's wishes. It would be inequitable to require Glen to personally bear the cost incurred in connection with these proceedings, which were only necessitated because Todd, as personal representative, refused to carry out the decedent's intent.

The trial court specifically found that Glen brought his TEDRA petition in good faith and with probable cause. CP 104. In contrast, Todd has not raised any reasonable or good faith arguments to justify his misconstruction of the will in a way that increased his own share of the estate at the expense of Glen, to whom he owes a fiduciary duty. In addition, Todd's actions with regard to the estate constituted blatant self-dealing and a breach of his fiduciary duties.

The trial court awarded Glen his attorneys' fees with regard to his TEDRA petition, to be paid by the estate. CP 105.

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